## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-332

STEVEN W. MONTGOMERY,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the First District Court of Appeal: Certified Question; Certified Conflict; Non-Certified Conflict

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0045489

CHARLIE MCCOY Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol, Suite PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (fax)

Counsel for Appellee

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

<u>Case</u>--The State seeks discretionary review of <u>Montgomery v.</u> <u>State</u>, 2009 Fla.App.LEXIS 1092 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb.12, 2009). That decision reversed Montgomery's conviction for second degree murder,

and announced a rule of per se fundamental error: [Montgomery] contends the trial court fundamentally erred in giving the standard jury instruction for manslaughter by act[.] ... We agree with Appellant because the standard instruction imposed an additional element on the crime of manslaughter by act, and that offense was one step removed from the crime for which Appellant was convicted.

2009 Fla.App.LEXIS 1092 \*1.

The opinion certified conflict with <u>Barton v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 638 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), *rev'd. on other grounds*, 536 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 1988). It also certified this question to be of great public importance: IS THE STATE REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT INTENDED TO KILL THE VICTIM IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE CRIME OF MANSLAUGHTER BY ACT?

2009 Fla.App.LEXIS 1092 \*16. Three other issues were deemed moot and not reached. *Id.* at \*2. The State sought rehearing, etc., but its motion was denied. (See First DCA progress docket for case no. 1D07-4688, entries for Jan. 7-Feb. 12, 2009.)

The State filed notice to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction Feb, 23, 2009. On March 5, it filed an amended notice, to include the "mis-application" ground advanced as Issue II in its jurisdictional brief to this court.

Below, Montgomery had appealed from the judgment entered upon conviction for the lesser included offense of second degree murder, with a finding he carried, etc. a weapon. (R1:88-9). He was sentenced to 45 years. (R1:103-7).<sup>1</sup>

**Facts**--The State charged Montgomery with first degree murder and child abuse. (R1:13). He was convicted for the lesser included offense of second degree murder with the finding he carried a weapon. (R1:88-9; Trial6:769).

Montgomery was the victim's enraged boyfriend. He pursued her in a fatal struggle throughout their apartment. (Trial4:225-60). She died from strangulation and multiple blunt force injuries, including fractured ribs; and suffocated when fat particles migrated to her lungs as a result of the beating. (Trial4:276-314).

The prosecutor's closing detailed the evidence of the beating (Trial6:670-2, 679-82), and urged the beating rose to premeditation (Trial6:682, 692-5). The prosecutor alluded to the same facts and argued for second degree murder in the alternative; and, finally, that the crime was not manslaughter. (Trial6:696-99). As to manslaughter,

the State said:

Manslaughter can be as simple as you strike somebody in the head outside a bar. You hit them one time--it doesn't have to be outside a bar, and the person hits the ground and hits concrete and dies from having hit

the ground. That's not what you have here, ladies and gentlemen.

(Trial6:698).

<sup>1</sup> The record below consisted of two volumes of filings cited (R[1 or 2]:[page no.]), and four volumes of trial transcript cited (Trial[vol. no.]:[page no.]). State-supplied emphasis is noted [e.s.].

Defense counsel closed by arguing against any heightened form of killing. Counsel also urged that if Montgomery used excessive force, he should be convicted for manslaughter. (Trial6:725). The State's rebuttal emphasized the extent and viciousness of the beating, to contend there was no self-defense and no manslaughter; but premeditated murder. (Trial6:726-39).

Using the standard jury instructions, the trial court explained that the crime charged (first degree murder) included second degree murder and manslaughter; and that the jury was first to decide if Montgomery killed the victim. If so, it then would decide whether the killing was first or second degree murder, manslaughter, or excused. (Trial6:743-44).

The trial court gave the definition of "act." (Trial6:745, 747, ). It finished the first degree murder instruction, and gave the standard ones for second degree murder and manslaughter. (Trial6:747).

The manslaughter instruction required the State to prove Montgomery "intentionally caused [the victim's] death." (Trial6:748,

lines 16-17). The trial court further explained: In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act it is not necessary for the state to prove that the defendant had a premeditated design to cause death[.]

(Trial6:749). Montgomery did not object to this instruction during the charge conference (Trial6:653-666) or after the final instructions were given. (Trial6:766).

Discussing the verdict form, the court instructed the jury to return a verdict for the "highest offense which has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt [or acquittal]." (Trial6:760).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I (Proof "Intent to Kill the Victim") -- The certified question should be answered negatively. In so answering, this court should explain that the critical distinction between manslaughter by "act" versus manslaughter by "culpable negligence" is whether the defendant acted deliberately toward or upon the victim; not whether the defendant intended to kill.

Showing such intent would be important to proving the killing rose to second or first degree murder, but not to proving manslaughter. Proof of "intent to kill" should not be <u>required</u> to convict for manslaughter, although it could be present in a given case. Instead, a deliberate--not premeditated, recklessly indifferent or malicious--act causing death must be shown.

Assuming the certified question is answered negatively, the prior standard instruction on manslaughter used in Montgomery's trial was erroneous. This court should exercise its authority to fully dispose of this case, by deciding whether the instruction give rise to fundamental error.

Given the brutality of the beating suffered by the victim; closing arguments; and other pertinent jury instructions; the error was harmless. The First DCA's decision must be reversed, with directions to consider the three issues deemed moot.

Issue II (Mis-Application of Garzon/Fundamental Error)--In the opinion below, the rationale is inseparable from the holding. The court discerned fundamental error on one narrow facet of trial--that Montgomery's conviction for second degree murder was but one step removed from the lesser offense of manslaughter-by-act, for which the prior version of the standard instruction was given.

This court must recognize the mis-application of <u>Garzon</u>; and, pursuant to its authority to fully dispose of the case, analyze all pertinent events of trial. As argued in Issue I, it should conclude that use of the then-standard instruction on manslaughter by act was not fundamental error.

<u>Issue III (Conflict with Barton)</u>--This issue will be mooted by disposition of Issue I. However, this court rejected the Fifth DCA's rationale in <u>Barton</u>, which rested on the premise that attempted manslaughter includes "intent to kill." Based on the State's argument in Issue I, any viable conflict should be resolved by disapproving the Fifth DCA's decision in Barton.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# TO CONVICT FOR MANSLAUGHTER-BY-ACT, MUST THE STATE PROVE THE DEFENDANT "INTENDED TO KILL THE VICTIM?" (Restated).

## A. Standard of Review

This issue is one of statutory interpretation; that is, what is the substantive content of the crime of manslaughter by "act," as defined by §782.07(1), Fla. Stat. Matters of statutory interpretation present questions of law reviewed *de novo*. *See* <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 957 So.2d 605, 610 (Fla. 2007) ("Our review of the [district court's] decision addressing this issue of statutory interpretation is de novo.").

## B. <u>Merits</u>

## The Answer to the Certified Question is "No"

The opinion below certified this question to be of great public importance: Is the state required to prove that the defendant intended to kill the victim in order to establish the crime of

to kill the victim in order to establish the crime of manslaughter by act?

2009 Fla.App.LEXIS 1092 \*16. The State will begin by narrowing the question.

The certified question mentions "intent," but without distinguishing <u>prior</u> intent (premeditation) from contemporaneous intent which could be inferred from the deliberate nature of the "act." However, if conviction for manslaughter by act were to

require not just a deliberate act, or even "intent to kill," but intent which <u>preceded</u> the killing; it would be indistinguishable from premeditated murder.

To the extent the certified question contemplates "prior" intent, the ready answer is "no." See <u>In re Std. Jury Instructions</u> <u>in Crim. Cases--Report No. 2007-10</u>, 997 So.2d 403 (Fla. 2008) (amending the explanatory comment for the standard manslaughter by act instruction [7.7(2)(a)] to read: "In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a <u>premeditated</u> intent to cause death, only an intent to commit an act which caused death. [e.s.]) [hereinafter "Report No. 2007-10"].

Florida's statutory definition of manslaughter, in pertinent

part, requires only an "act" for culpability to attach: [§782.07](1) The killing of a human being by the <u>act</u>, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, without lawful justification ... is manslaughter, a felony of the second degree .... [e.s.].

Had the Legislature desired to require "intent to kill" as a prima facie element of manslaughter by "act," it could easily have said so; at any time over the numerous decades that "manslaughter" has been a codified crime. See <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 842 So.2d 46, 49 (Fla. 2002) (interpreting the animal cruelty [criminal] statute, and observing: "Furthermore, if the Legislature wanted the statute to include the specific intent to cause a cruel death or suffering, they could have specifically said so."). See also State v. Hearns, 961 So.2d 211, 219 (Fla. 2007) (explaining that the listing of specific types of battery in the forcible felony statute implied the exclusion of other types; and observing: "Had the Legislature intended to include all types of battery as forcible felonies, it would have listed simply 'battery' rather than only the specific types enumerated.").

In <u>Bautista v. State</u>, 863 So.2d 1180 (Fla. 2003), this court addressed related language in the DUI manslaughter statute. It first

recounted the history of Florida's manslaughter statute: The first manslaughter statute was enacted in 1868. ... [n5 & n6 retained] This statutory language, which has remained unchanged since 1892, .... [n7 omitted.]

n5. In 1868, the Florida Legislature codified the common law of homicide. Ch. 1637, Laws of Fla. (1868). The statute set out a general definition of manslaughter: "The killing of one human being, by the act, procurement, or omission of another, in cases where such killing shall not be murder, according to the provisions of this chapter, is either justifiable or excusable homicide or manslaughter." *Id.* ch. III, §3.

n6. In 1892, the Legislature revised and consolidated the homicide statute. Degrees of manslaughter were eliminated, and certain common-law manslaughters (misdemeanor manslaughter, heat of passion killings, involuntary killing of a trespasser, and killing through negligence) were no longer specifically listed in the statute but became subsumed within the general definition of manslaughter. The general definition was amended to read: "The killing of a human being by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, in cases where such killing shall not be justifiable or excusable homicide or murder . . . shall be deemed manslaughter .... " §2384, Fla. Rev. Stat. (1892).

# Id. at 1186 & n.5,6.

As the quoted language illustrates, "intent to kill" has never been in the statutory definition of manslaughter. This history, and equally-long use of "act" alone, exclude a requirement of specific intent to kill. Instead, the State must prove a deliberate act resulting in death--from which intent to kill <u>could</u>, but not necessarily, be inferred.

The crucial distinction in manslaughter cases is not the intended result, but whether the defendant acted deliberately to cause death. As <u>Bautista</u>'s sixth footnote observed, codification of common law manslaughter merged numerous degrees or types of that crime--most done by deliberate act. However, the statute also separately recognized manslaughter by culpable negligence. Thus, the statutory distinction is between deliberate and negligent acts causing harm, not between intentional and unintentional deaths as a result. If "intent to kill" were necessary to the completed crime of manslaughter by "act," such distinction would have been appeared in the manslaughter statute long ago.

Recently, this court amended the standard manslaughter-by-act jury instruction to clarify that the State does not have to prove "premeditated intent to cause death:"

[W]e modify instruction 7.7 as follows:

In order to convict of manslaughter by intentional act, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a **premeditated** intent to cause death, **only an intent to commit an act which caused death**. See <u>Hall v. State</u>, 951 So.2d 91 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). We authorize publication and use of the instruction as modified. [**bold-underline** italicized in original].

# Report No. 2007-10, 997 So.2d at 403.

The bold-underlined language all but answers the certified question negatively. When this court modified the standard

instruction, it could have specified "intent to kill" be proven, only that such intent need not be premeditated. However, the court went further, to require only the proof of an intent to commit an act which caused death. As clarified by the change in <u>Report No. 2007-10</u>, the manslaughter-by-act instruction now requires only a deliberate act causing death. Although the facts of a particular case might incidentally prove death was the intended result, such proof is not required as part of the State's prima facie case. Again, the answer to the certified question is "no."<sup>2</sup>

This result squares with the better-reasoned decisions in Florida caselaw. For example, in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 951 So.2d 91, 93 (Fla. 2d DCA), *rev. den.*, 962 So.2d 336 (Fla. 2007) (en banc), the Second DCA affirmed the conviction for manslaughter by act, when the defendant's single punch flexed the victim's head; severing a vertebral artery and causing a fatal brain hemorrhage. In <u>Hall</u>, there was but one punch thrown. The defendant told responding officers he regretted punching the victim and hoped the victim would be okay. *Id.* at 93. Nevertheless, this

# unintended killing was properly tried (and conviction upheld) as manslaughter by act.

Rejecting "intent to kill" in favor requiring a deliberate act resulting in death should also end the occasional confusion--arising from the notion of "voluntary" versus "involuntary" manslaughter--that a deliberate act causing a clearly unintended

<sup>2</sup> If this court were to conclude "intent to kill" must be proven, then Montgomery's jury was properly instructed. No error would have been committed.

death is somehow manslaughter by culpable negligence. *Compare* <u>Brinkley v. State</u>, 874 So.2d 1199, 1201 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (upholding denial of dismissal on appeal from conviction for manslaughter by culpable negligence, when defendant shot and killed his live-in partner's adult daughter thought to be a burglar) and <u>Light v. State</u>, 841 So.2d 623, 624 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (directing judgment be entered for manslaughter by culpable negligence, when defendant and victim scuffled in "mosh pit;" the defendant picked up the victim and slammed him to the floor; and the victim later died from resultant head injury); to <u>Davison v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 338, 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), *rev. den.*, 697 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1997) (upholding conviction for manslaughter by culpable negligence, when driver crashed into a tree and killed passenger; and the driver had been consuming alcohol, was driving at excessive speed, was driving in total darkness on a two-lane, canopy road, etc.).

The State suggests that <u>Brinkley</u> and <u>Light</u>, although reaching the right result, actually involved manslaughter by act when death was plainly not intended; while <u>Davison</u> was correctly treated as manslaughter by culpable negligence. The useful distinction is not the defendant's intended result, but whether the defendant acted deliberately toward the victim.

In Bolin v. State, 2009 Fla. App. LEXIS 2284 (Fla. 2d DCA Mar. 20,

Florida law distinguishes between voluntary manslaughter, which is committed by act or procurement, and involuntary manslaughter, committed by culpable negligence. Whereas voluntary manslaughter is a crime of intent, involuntary manslaughter is not.

<sup>2009),</sup> the court observed:

Id. at \*3. The distinction between "voluntary" and "involuntary" manslaughter has long been present, and long been confusing, in Florida law.

By depending on the purpose of the perpetrator's acts toward or upon the victim, the distinction between "voluntary" and "involuntary" manslaughter allows a deliberate act to be treated as culpably "negligent" simply because death was not intended. If the certified question is answered negatively--with the explanation that "act" as used in §782.07(1) includes all deliberate acts regardless of their intended result--this court would end the unnecessary distinction between voluntary and involuntary manslaughter, and better differentiate manslaughter by act from manslaughter by culpable negligence.

"Procurement" aside, the manslaughter statute distinguishes between "act" and "culpable negligence" only--it does not further divide manslaughter by "act" into "voluntary" and "involuntary." However, by shooting an acquaintance thought to be a burglar (<u>Brinkley</u>), or by slamming someone to the mosh pit floor (<u>Light</u>), the perpetrator acted deliberately; with absolutely nothing to indicate negligence. Those cases are better perceived as deliberate killings, but without the mental state (premeditation or malice) to sustain a conviction for the higher degrees of murder.

For all these reasons, the certified question should be answered negatively. In so answering, this court should explain that the critical distinction between manslaughter-by-act versus

manslaughter by culpable negligence is whether the defendant acted deliberately toward or upon the victim. Whether the defendant intended to kill would be important to proving the crime rose to second or first degree murder. Such proof, however, would not <u>required</u> to convict for manslaughter, although it could be present in a given case. Instead, a deliberate act--not premeditated, recklessly indifferent or malicious--causing death must be shown.

## No Fundamental Error Occurred

If the certified question is answered negatively, the prior standard instruction on manslaughter, given here, was erroneous. This court should exercise its authority to fully dispose of this case, by deciding whether the erroneous instruction gave rise to error which was fundamental.

"[0]nce this Court has jurisdiction of a cause, it has jurisdiction to consider all issues appropriately raised in the appellate process, as though the case had originally come to this Court on appeal. <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982) Here, this court can and should consider the question of whether fundamental error arose, because such question is dispositive apart from the three issues the First DCA did not reach. *Cf. id.* ("This authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based ... should be exercised only when these other issues have been properly briefed and argued and are dispositive of the case.").

This court has: cautioned appellate courts to exercise their discretion concerning fundamental error 'very guardedly. Fundamental error should be applied only in the rare cases

where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application.

<u>Farina v. State</u>, 937 So.2d 612, 629 (Fla. 2006), *cert. den.*, 549 U.S. 1183 (2007). Here, the opinion below was far from "guarded." It ignored all but a fragment of the trial record, to manufacture fundamental error.

The opinion below did not consider opening statements, the brutality of the victim's beating at Montgomery's hand, closing arguments, or other pertinent jury instructions. Had the court done so, it could not have found any error to be fundamental.

Turning to the facts, the stunning event was the extent of the beating. Montgomery lodged many blows with rods and a clothes-iron. He pursued the victim in her futile attempt to flee, all over the house, and continued to beat her. Some

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