## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

CASE NO. SC09-332 L.T. No. 1D07-4688

STEVEN W. MONTGOMERY,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_\_

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD M. SUMMA
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
SummaR@leoncountyfl.gov
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 890588

##

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

of fundamental error. (IB,17). The state's reliance on Martinez is misplaced. In Martinez, the trial court erroneously defined the forcibly-felony instruction in conjunction with the defendant's claim of self-defense. Martinez, however, is inapposite for a number of reasons. First, the erroneous instruction in Martinez pertained to an affirmative defense (self-defense). exceedingly difficult to establish that an erroneous instruction on an affirmative defense constitutes fundamental error. because the defendant properly bears the burden of producing evidence of the defense and the state must nonetheless prove the existence of all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 455. Erroneous instruction on an affirmative constitutes fundamental error only where the defendant has been deprived of a fair trial. Id. In the present case, by contrast, the error pertained to an element of manslaughter by act rather than to the affirmative defense of self defense.

Second, this Court's ruling in <u>Martinez</u> was grounded in the fact that the erroneous forcible felony instruction "did not deprive Martinez of his sole, or even his primary, defense strategy." <u>Id.</u> at 456. In the present case, however, self defense was Respondent's sole defense.

Third, properly construed, <u>Martinez</u> permits consideration of the weight of the evidence of self defense only where the erroneous instruction pertains specifically to the theory of self defense.

Since the error in the present case pertains to the elements of manslaughter by act, <u>Martinez</u> does not authorize the weighing of the evidence of self defense in the determination of fundamental error.

Even if Martinez authorizes such inquiry, the evidence that Respondent acted in self defense was far greater than the state is willing to admit. There were knife marks in the wall of the master bedroom. (Trial, IV, 373, 378, 249, 250). The victim had small incised wounds that could have been caused by a metal (Trial, IV, 289, 297). The incised wounds to the victim's hands were relatively minor. (Trial, IV, 328). There was some testimony that one who wields a knife could cause such wounds to themselves. (Trial, IV, 329). A metal rod was found in the (Trial, IV, 233). The metal rod tested positive for proteins that "could be blood." (Trial, IV, 234). The victim suffered an undoubtedly brutal beating. She did not suffer any significant stab wounds or knife wounds, however.

On the basis of this evidence, defense counsel argued that the victim could have attacked Respondent and wielded the knife. (Trial, VI, 707). The stab marks in the wall could have been caused by the victim. (Trial, VI, 718). The injuries to her extremities could have been offensive wounds. (Trial, VI, 707). The injuries to the victim's extremities that appear to be caused by a pole could have been caused by Respondent's attempt to disarm her.

(Trial, VI, 708, 709). Defense counsel also argued that Respondent did not intend to kill Tarnesha. (Trial, VI, 706). Notwithstanding the claim of self defense, defense counsel argued that if the jury found that appellant's use of force "was excessive you should find him guilty of manslaughter." (Trial, VI, 725). This was undoubtedly a reference to the common law doctrine of the excessive use of force in self defense, a type of voluntary manslaughter.

It is seen that the evidence of self defense was greater in the present case than in Martinez. This is yet another reason why Martinez does not militate against the finding of fundamental error. Moreover, defense counsel advanced the theory of self defense but also held out the possibility of a conviction of the lesser offense of manslaughter (by act). Given that the lesser offense of manslaughter was specifically put "in play" by defense counsel who all but conceded that Respondent may be guilty of manslaughter, the erroneous inclusion of an intent to kill element effectively defeated that tactic, precluded a finding of guilt for the lesser offense of manslaughter by act, and thereby deprived Respondent of a "fair trial." The error amounted to a denial of due process and fundamental error.

The error in the proceedings below was substantially similar to the error found to violate due process in <a href="Beck v. Alabama">Beck v. Alabama</a>, 447 U.S. 625 (1980). In <a href="Beck">Beck</a>, the defendant was charged with a capital offense. The trial court applied an Alabama statute which denied

the defendant an instruction on the lesser offense of felony murder not subject to the death penalty. The jury thus was presented with only two options, a conviction which required imposition of the death penalty and outright acquittal. The United States Supreme Court concluded that the Alabama statute which deprived the defendant of the option of a conviction for the lesser included offense of felony murder, for which the death penalty was not available, constituted a denial of due process. The distinction between the two offenses was whether the defendant "intended to kill" the victim where the defendant claimed that his accomplice acted independently in killing the victim and the intent to kill could not be supplied by the fiction of felony murder. States Supreme Court explained that where the evidence shows that the defendant committed some offense, but leaves some doubt as to an element which would justify conviction for the greater offense, the failure to instruct the jury on the lesser offense "would seem inevitably to enhance the risk of an unwarranted conviction." Id. at 637.

In the present case, the instruction on the lesser offense of manslaughter by act erroneously imposed an "intent to kill" element. The erroneous instruction so altered the character of the manslaughter option as to effectively preclude the jury from finding appellant guilty of manslaughter by act. Specifically, if the jury found that appellant did not intend to kill the victim,

second degree murder was the only option available; the manslaughter option was effectively withdrawn from consideration by the erroneous instruction. On the facts presented, the jury could have found that appellant acted in self defense but thereafter raged out of control in carrying his defense to an unwarranted level, i.e, the common law voluntary manslaughter doctrine of excessive use of force in self-defense. The erroneous instruction, however, substantially interfered with the jury's fact-finding and deliberative process, and amounted to an unwarranted and inexcusable intrusion into the jury room. The jury was forced to convict appellant of the higher offense of second degree murder. The error is properly described as "fundamental," so as to permit argument for the first time on appeal.

The only exception to this rule is explained in Armstrong v. State, 579 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1991). In Armstrong, this Court explained that failure to give a complete instructions to the jury on the defenses of justifiable and excusable homicide in conjunction with the offense of manslaughter will not be regarded as fundamental where defense counsel affirmatively requested an abbreviated instruction. More precisely, even fundamental error may be waived. Id. Similarly, the error is waived if the defense opts for an "all or nothing" defense and declines instruction on the defenses of justifiable and excusable homicide. Jones v. State, 484 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1986).

The <u>Armstrong</u> exception is not applicable in the present case.

The record does not show an affirmative waiver of a correct jury instruction. The record shows only the mere failure to object.

There are some other considerations which should be addressed in an abundance of caution. Some believe there is a Florida rule that the failure to instruct on a necessarily lesser included offense does not constitute fundamental error. The cases cited for this proposition include Harris v. State, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 963 (1984), Jones v. State, 484 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1986), Parker v. Dugger, 537 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1989), and McKinney v. State, 579 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1991). In Harris, this Court held that a defendant in a capital case has the right to instruction on necessarily lesser included offenses. That right, however, may be waived provided that the defendant personally executes a knowing and intelligent waiver. In the subsequent Jones and Parker v. Dugger cases, this Court construed Harris to stand for the proposition that in a non-capital case, the defendant must request instruction on the necessarily lesser included offenses in order to preserve the issue for appellate review, i.e., the error cannot be considered "fundamental" so as to be cognizable for the first time on appeal. The pronouncements in Jones and Parker v. Dugger must be considered dicta because in neither case was it necessary to decide whether the error was fundamental. Each case turned on the finding that defense counsel had validly waived the

right to instruction on the necessarily lesser included offenses because the defendant's personal waiver was not required in a non-capital case. In McKinney, this Court relied on the dicta of Jones and Parker v. Dugger to rule, in the non-capital context, that any error in the trial court's failure to instruct on the necessarily lesser included offense of false imprisonment was barred from appellate review by the lack of a contemporaneous objection. The extremely terse pronouncement in McKinney, however, fails to explain whether the defendant argued that the error was fundamental and therefore does not specifically reject a claim that the error was fundamental.

In sum, respondent argues that there is no established rule in Florida that the failure to instruct, in a non-capital case, on necessarily lesser included offenses cannot constitute fundamental error. In fact, the rule should be otherwise. The failure to instruct on necessarily lesser included offenses intrudes upon the jury's fact-finding prerogative and tends to coerce the jury into returning a verdict for a higher offense than it may otherwise find. In other words, the reasoning of <a href="Beck v. Alabama">Beck v. Alabama</a> applies equally to necessarily lesser included offenses in non-capital cases. Even if a contemporaneous objection would normally be required, this Court has carved out a well defined exception to the rule for the necessarily lesser included offense of manslaughter. See State v. Lucas, 645 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994); Miller v.

State, 573 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1991); Rojas v. State, 552 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1989). The exception is well justified due to the fact that manslaughter is a residual offense defined by reference to what it is not, and because the distinction between manslaughter and second degree murder is amorphous.

Petitioner argues that any error in the jury instructions for manslaughter cannot be regarded as fundamental because manslaughter is two steps removed from the charged offense of first degree murder. This argument fails. The "steps" analysis is determined by the offense of conviction, not the highest charged offense. This Court has already considered and rejected Petitioner's argument.

[F]ailure to give a complete instruction on manslaughter during the original jury charge is fundamental error which is not subject to harmless error analysis where the defendant has been convicted of either manslaughter or a greater offense not more than one step removed, such as second degree murder.

State v. Lucas, 645 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1994) (emphasis added). In Rojas v. State, the defendant was charged with first degree murder and convicted of second degree murder. This Court held that an error in the manslaughter instruction constituted fundamental error notwithstanding the fact that Rojas had been charged with first degree murder.

[T]he failure to give an accurate instruction on a lesser included offense which is two steps removed from the crime of which the defendant is convicted constitutes harmless error.

Rojas, 552 So. 2d at 916, n. 1, citing State v. Abreau, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978) (emphasis added).

Lucas and Rojas also negate Petitioner's claim that this case involves the doctrine of the "jury pardon." There is no reasonable contention that the jury pardoned Respondent down from first degree murder to second degree murder. The state cannot get into the minds of the jurors in that respect. The verdict must be accepted on its face for the conclusion that the State failed to prove the element of premeditation. Respondent is not seeking a "pardon" down to the offense of manslaughter, and there is no legal basis to support the claim that a verdict of manslaughter (on retrial) would constitute a jury pardon.

Petitioner also argues that the district court "misapplied" Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 2008). Of course, the district court did not "expressly" misapply Garzon because the decision below did not cite Garzon. This is not surprising because Garzon is not applicable to the present case. The "and/or" jury instruction at issue in Garzon was a unique type of instructional error and did not pertain to an erroneous instruction on the elements of a necessarily lesser included offense. Garzon has no application to the present case.

Petitioner cites <u>Garzon</u> for the proposition that the error involved in the manslaughter instruction was not an error in instructing the jury on a disputed element of the crime, as was the

case in State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991), and Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2002). (IB,24). Fortunately, this Court has already addressed this issue by analogy. In Lucas v. State, 630 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), the defendant was charged with attempted second degree murder. He interposed the defense of misidentification. The trial judge failed to instruct the jury on the defense of justifiable and excusable homicide in conjunction with the lesser offense of attempted manslaughter. On appeal, the defendant claimed fundamental error. The district court discussed the tension between Rojas and Delva. Under Rojas, the failure to instruct on justifiable and excusable homicide would be fundamental error. Given the defense of misidentification, however, it would seem that under Delva the error would not be fundamental because the instruction on manslaughter was not "disputed" or germane to the resolution of the case. The district court held that Rojas controlled the analysis and certified a question of great public importance to this Court. In State v. Lucas, 645 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1994), this Court affirmed the district court's ruling, holding that an erroneous instruction on manslaughter constitutes fundamental error where the defendant is convicted of either manslaughter or a greater offense not more than one step removed, such as second degree murder. This is because manslaughter is a residual defined by reference to what it is not. A complete and correct instruction on manslaughter is required in order that the jury may distinguish between the crimes of manslaughter and second degree murder. If the jury is improperly instructed on manslaughter, a verdict of guilt for second degree murder is inherently unreliable. The error is fundamental. State v. Lucas; Rojas; Miller.

The same is true in the present case. The error is not materially distinguishable. In Lucas, the failure to instruct the jury on the defense of justifiable and excusable homicide fatally undermined the jury's rejection of the manslaughter option. In the present case, the erroneous addition of the "intent to kill" element similarly undermined the jury's rejection of manslaughter option. The verdict of guilty of second degree murder did not establish a factual determination of "intent to kill" because "intent to kill" is not an element of second degree murder. Given that the jury's verdict did not encompass a finding of intent to kill, the jury should have been presented with an option of finding Respondent guilty of either manslaughter or second degree The erroneous addition of an intent to kill element, however, withdrew that option from the jury's consideration and, in effect, "coerced" a verdict for the higher offense of second degree Since the verdict was "coerced," no examination of the record could demonstrate the error to be harmless. No view of the record can prove that the jury would have returned the same verdict irrespective of the error. The state's legal analysis asks the appellate courts to make a finding of fact, i.e., the degree of the defendant's mental culpability, for the first time on appeal. Appellate courts do not make factual findings for the first time on appeal. That is beyond the scope of appellate review. The error is fundamental.

## CONCLUSION

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